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April 30, 2025

Mr. Josh White

Principal Planner

¢fo City Clerk, City of Arkansas City
118 W, Central Ave

Arkansas City, K5 67005

Re: Proposal, Updated Mational Register Nomination, Arkansas City Downtown Commercial Center
Historic District

Mr. White:

Thanks for the opportunity to submit a proposal for updating Ark City"s Downtown Historic District nomination.
Below you will find a summary of my qualifications, a proposed project methodology, and proposed budget. |
have also attached my resume for your review and consideration.

Qualifications

Owver a two-decade-long career, Christy Davis has worked in every one of the state's 105 counties. After serving
as the first preservation planner for the City of Newton, Kansas, she joined the staff of the Kansas State Historic
Preservation Office, where she rose 1o the role of Deputy SHPO. In 2006, she established a historic preservation
firm, which assists property owners, architects, non-profits, community leaders and government officials in
incorporating historic preservation into planning efforts, evaluating historic structures, nominating properties to
the National Register of Historic Places, applying for preservation-related funding, and complying with federal
and state presenvation laws. Davis Preservotion has completed historic property surveys for tens of thousands of
buildings, written national register nominations for seven of the state’s 26 downtown historic districts, and
completed numerous plans, including the Kansas State Preservation Plan, Campus Heritage Plan for the
University of Kansas, the General Management Plan for Freedom’s Frontier Mational Heritage Area, Preservation
Plan for Harrisonwille (MO}, Rural Presenvation Plan for Willow Springs Township, various economic impact
studies, and a business plan that has become a model for Wichita businesses.

Davis has also been involved in historic preservation advocacy and property development. She was instrumental
in establishing and protecting Kansas's historic tax credit program. Through the years, she has served on the
boards of Preservation Action, National Conference of State Historic Preservation Officers, Kansas Preservation
Alliance, Kansas Downtown Development Association, Friends of Historic Preservation, Topeka Landmarks
Commission, Topeka Turnaround Team, and Chase County Chamber of Commerce. From 2013-2019, Davis
served as Executive Director of Symphany in the Flint Hills, a non-profit whose mission is to heighten
appreciation and knowledge of the Flint Hills tallgrass prairie, one of the world's most endangered cultural
landscapes. Davis also enjoys developing her own bulldings in rural communities. Recent projpects include
Washorama Laundromat in Cottonwood Falls and the State Bank Building in Council Grove. Until January 2025,
Davis served as USDA Rural Development Director for Kansas,
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Eroject-Related Qualifications

There are 26 downtown historic districts in Kansas, Davis Presereation has written 7 of these nominations
(Collyer, Council Grove, Dodge City, Wellington, El Dorado, Sedgwick and Emporia) and assisted Spencer
Preservation with two (Manhattan and Ellsworth) of the others.

Christy Davis meets the Secretary of the Interior's Professional Qualifications in the areas of History and
Architectural History:

History — Davis holds an MA in Public History with an emphasis in Historic Preservation from Wichita

State University. She has been researching, writing, and teaching history and historic preservation for
miore than 25 years.

Architectural History = Davis's undergraduate studies included advanced coursework in Architectural
History. She has been contributing to the field of architectural history through research and publication
for more than 25 years.

Because Davis Preservation is taking on a selected few consulting projects for 2025 and 2026, we will be able to
exceed the city’s proposed timeline for this project.

For more information on qualifications, please see attached resume.

Project Methodology/Scope

Davis Preservation proposes the following methodology for meeting the city's desired Scope of Work and
Timeline in compliance with the Kansas SHPO's guidelines for HPF-funded projpects:

July 2025 Contract negotiation and Execution
Review of Existing Survey Records and Report
Meet with Kansas SHPO
Peet with City Staff

August 2025 Fublic Meeting #1
Review Survey Project
Review Mational Register Process
Discuss SHPD map recommendations
Respond to public questions

September 2025 First Draft Nomination for City and SHPO Review
Lipdate and collate survey data for nomination
Identify district boundaries based on SHPO recommendations
Prepare and draft nomination, including detailed historic context with
statement of significance

October 2025 Public Meeting 82
Present Draft Nomination to City
Discuss project findings with public

Movember 2025 Second Draft Nomination to SHPO for review and placement on agenda of
Historic Sites Board of Review



nsation

Consultant proposes to complete the above scope of work for a total fee of $20,000.00, to be billable at
completion of the following scope items:

a. Completion of Report from Public Meeting #1 $3000.00
b. First Draft Momination for SHPO Review S4000.00
c SHPD Approval of Final Draft $13,000.00

Compensation shall cover consulting services and travel for two in-person visits, two in-person community
meetings, and in-person presentation to Historic Sites Board of Review. Consultant shall submit an invoice in
writing at completion of the above phases. Payment shall be due 30 days following submission of invoice.

I look forward to the opportunity to work with the community of Arkansas City. Should you have any questions,
please do not hesitate to call or text me at 785-213-1369.

Thank you for your consideration.

Christy Cauble Davis
Davis Preservation

References:

Brenda Spencer

Spencer Preservation

10150 Onaga Rd.

Wamego, Kansas 66547
brenda@spencerpreservation.com
785-456-4471

loined forces on downtown district nominations for Manhattan (2007) and Ellsworth (2007],

Casey Woods

Emporia Main Strest

727 Commercial 51

Emporia, Kansas 66801
director@emporiamainstreet.com
B20-794-2957

Coordinated Downtown District project [2012/2016, see enclosure) in Emporia (pop. 24,105) and we've worked
on many projects since {through 2025}

Don Mackey

Florence Community Foundation
343 W_B™ St

Florence, Kansas 66851
316-215-1036

Individual NE nomination for Battey House [2025) and Downtown District nomination for Florence (pop. 384)
(2025).



CHRISTY DAVIS

Education

MA, Wichita State University
Public History

{Historic Preservation/
Museumn Administration)

BS, Kansas State University

History
{Architecture, Arch Engineering,
Historic Preservation)

Contact

715 First Street
Cottonwood Falls, Kansas 66845

T85.213.1369 (cell)
christykdavis@gmail com

Experience

White House A nt 2022 -Present
U5DA Rural Development
1301 Independence Ave, SW

Washington, DC

Managed 5700 million in new federal investments in rural Kansas and
led a national team that improved processing times for major
infrastructure and green energy projects in rural America.

President/COwner 2006-Present
Davis Preservation
715 First Street

Cottonwood Falls, KS

Assist nonprofits, businesses, and individuals in accessing federal and
state funding for community development and historic preservation.
Own and manage two historic buildings that | rehabilitated.

Candidate, US House of Reps. 2019-2020
Christy Davis for Kansas

Executive Director 2013-2019
Symphony in the Flint Hills

321 Broadway

Cottonwood Falls, KS

Led a small staff and boards to advocate for one of the world's most
endangered landscapes through education programming, high-profile
events, and fundraising.

Director, Cultural Resources Division 1999-2006
Kansas Historical Society

B4ZS SW Sixth Avenue

Topeka, K5

Established state and federal preservation policy and managed a staff
of architects, archeologists, and preservation specialists.



Storyteller.

Every place has a story. As Executive Director of Symphony in
the Flint Hills, a 501c3 with a mission to “heighten
appreciation and knowledge” of one of the world's most
endangered landscapes, | used annual themes to synchronized
year-round education programming, Signature Event (5000+
attendees), and fundraising efforts. Below are examples of
ways we used starytelling to identify and inspire partners and
funders.

2019 Ad Astra/lumpStar

I secured funding from the National Endowment for the Arts and bwilt partnerships with Wichita's Harvester
Arts, The Land Institute, and many other collaborators to explore culture-related “constellates” that imagined a
future celebration of the transition to the next North Star,

Section Intros:

https://newprairiepress. org/cgif/viewcontent.cgifarticle=1251&context=sfh
https://newprairiepress. org/cgi/viewcontent.cgifarticle=12498&context=sfh
https://newprairiepress. org/cgifviewcontent.cgi farticle=1 2508 context=sth

Articles:
https://newprairiepress.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgifarticle=127 1 &context=sfh
https://newprairiepress.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgifarticle=1262 Econtext=sfh

2018 WaterWays/Sea of Grass

I spent years nurturing partnerships with and securing funding from the Smithsonian Institution, Humanities
Kansas, Nature Conservancy, and others to explore water in the Flint Hills. In conjunction with the Smithsonian’s
travelling exhibition WaterWays, we developed “Sea of Grass,” a companion exhibit that told the story of how a
giant infand sea gave way to the region’s iconic rolling landscape. Our theme-related work included a pioneering
event called "Cut Down a Tree for Earth Day,” where volunteers worked to restore grassland waterways by
removing invasive Eastern Red Cedars.

Introduction:
https:f newprairiepress.org/ogifviewcontent.cgi farticle=12 268 context=sfh

Section Intros:

https://newprairiepress. argfcgifviewcontent_cgifarticle=12 288 context=sfh
https://newprairiepress.org/cgifviewcontent.cgirarticle=123 3&context=sth
https://newprairiepress org/cgifviewcontent.cgitarticle=1241&context=sfth

Articles:
https://newprairiepress. org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi farticle=1 238 Bcontext=sfh
https://newprairiepress.orgdcgifviewcontent.cgifarticle=1 2468 context=sfh




2017 Chisholm Trall

With corporate funding from Flint Hills Design and Lost Trail Soda, along with partnerships with government and
cultural institutions statewide, we commemaorated the 150" anniversary of the Chisholm Trail. Our award-
winning touring exhibition and programming expanded public understanding of the trail beyond the dance halls
and gunfights depicted in dime novels and western films. This included a diversity symposium about Black
Cowbaoys in partnership with the Federal Home Loan Bank,

Introduction:
https://newprairiepress.org/cgifviewcontent.cgifarticle=1203&context=sth

Section Intros:

https:f/newprairiepress.org/cgifviewcontent.cgiParticle=1204 Econtext=sfh
https://newprairiepress.ong/c iewcontent.cgifarticle=1214&context=sfh

Article:
https:f/newprairiepress.org/cgifviewcontent.cgi?article=1215&context=sfh

2016 Future of the Flint Hills
In 2016, 5FH explored the region’s future in the face of economic, environmental, and cultural changes.

iectlu:n intras:

ontent.cgifarticle=1191&context=sfh

2015 Grasslands of the World

For our tenth anniversary, we partnered with The Nature Conservancy to host a symposium featuring an
impressive slate of international grasslands experts. We also collaborated with the Tallgrass Film Festival to
present screenings of two international films: “The Cave of the Yellow Dog” and “Rams.”

Introduction:
https://newprairiepress org/cgifviewcontent.cgifarticle=1124&context=sfh

2014 Flint Hills Land, Sky, People
My articles in 2014's Field Journal focused on the hyper-local stories of the area surrounding our annual

Signature Event. They included a short biography of Perry Lowery, a nationally renowned bandleader from the
black farming community of Reece and a short history of the region’s oil boomtowns.

Articles:
https:/fnewprairiepress.org/cei/viewcontent.cgi Particle=1102 Econtext=sfh
https://newprairiepress.org/cgifviewcontent.cgiParticle=1094 Econtext=sfh

Other
My waork was featured in publications of The Nature Conservancy, Smithsonian, and Kansas Leadership Center:

ugsiw nature orgfen-us/magazine/magazine-articles fallgrass-serenade- 1/

ian com/ans-culture/american- rhapsud-.r 180970545/
l_';_l,_psﬂhlcmmnal com/the-unlikeliest-composition-the-




Collaborator.

The key to collaboration is exchanging information. Because
each place, person, and organization is unigue, listening is
essential to identifying and solving problems. | apply this
approach to managing staff, working with communities,
gathering perspectives to inform planning documents, and
establishing creating funding partnerships.

Management

For twenty-five years | have been managing both people and projects through a fine balance of trust and
accountability. My approach is to managing other managers is to give most the room they need to succeed,
maotivate those who need it, and hold everyone accountable for meeting goals and expectations.

Planning

President Eisenhower famously said, “Plans are worthless, but planning is everything.” Over the years, I've
collaborated with governments, institutions, and nonprofits to gather and incorporate feedback from stakeholders
into planning documents. I've prepared plans for organizations, places, and programs. I've also negotiated and
executed many cooperative agreements, including one with the National Park Service to present an event for 6000
attendees at the Tallgrass Prairie National Preserve. Below are links related to some of these plans (those without
links are available upon request).

el 2%

hitps:/fwww ci harrisonville mo .us/DocumentCenter,View 9466/FINAL historicpreservaticnplan
https://kansasalumnimagarine org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/kansasalumni_2008 06 pdi
hitps:/fwww calameo comfread /0057247 IcAcaliTe 7200

hitps://khrikansasgis.org/photos docs/117-3560-00002 16.pdf

Community Engagement
I've given hundreds of presentations on countless topics to every size of audience. However, | also love to engage in
person with individuals and small groups. I've worked in every one of my state’s 105 counties.

https://www hutchnews com/story/news/local/2020/07 /28 /candidate-davis-emphasizes-rural-connections/11483882 2/

Fundraising

| have worked closely with funders to identify projects that align organizational goals with their brands. For instance,
at Symphony in the Flint Hills, we worked with local favorite Lost Trall Root Beer as a presenting sponsor for our
travelling Chisholm Trail exhibit. We worked closely with The Nature Conservancy to sponsor travel for international
experts to speak on Grasslands of the World. In my role at USDA Rural Development, | have coordinated with federal
funders, state government, and foundations to bridge funding gaps on crucial infrastructure, conservation, and
healthcare projects.

hitps://symphonyinthellinthills.orgfexhibits/




Navigator.

In the case of government programs, every election brings
new opportunities and challenges. | have experience
navigating an ever-changing funding landscape to get
projects done.

In the past two years, I've managed 5700 million in new federal investment
im rural Kansas communities. These projects address rural food deserts,
build water and broadband infrastructure, supply sustainable energy, and
celebrate unigue places and underrepresented communities. Through the
years, my efforts to develop and access government funding programs
have leveraged billions of dollars in investments for community
development and conservation. https://x.com/RurDev_Kansas

Selected Boards and Awards

Groundbreaking Task Force, USDA Rural Development, 2023-2024

EKansas Preservation Alllance, Excellence Award, Morris County Bank, 2019
Kansas Preservation Alliance, Excellence Award, Washorama, 2017
Friends of Historic Preservation (Founder, Convener, Organizer), 2010-2013
Topeka Landmarks Commission (Chair), 2006-2012

Board of Directors, Preservation Action (PA, National Board), 2007-2008
Legislative Chair, Kansas Downtown Development Association, 2005-2009
Board of Directors, NCSHPO

Topeka Turnarcund Team, 2005-2006

amer 5oc of Landscape Architects, Merit Award, Freedom's Frontier GMP
Kansas Preservation Alliance, Award for Preservation Advocacy, 2010

Kansas Main Street, Award for Leadership in Preservation, 2010
Mational Trust for Historic Preservation, Kansas Army National Guard, 2008




Changemaker.

I've made a career of doing things thought to be impossible. | established and
advocated for the Kanzas rehabilitation tax credit program, including recent
changes that increased the incentive for projects in rural communities. The
program has saved countless historic buildings and resulted in billions in
economic impact. When USDA's cumbersome environmental review
processes were miring efforts to break ground on sustainable energy
projects, | led an effort to cut the red tape. 've persanally rehabilitated two
threatened rural buildings to serve community needs. If you don't like
something, change it.

hitps://aprews com/decb3alaal 154eadf792c0bB5F1 FBLTS

hitps://americancoinop.comynode /83319

hitps.//savingplaces. org/stories/cean-history-laundromat-that-anchors-a-kansas
town ffbclid = wZXhObgNhIWOCMTEAAR 1uisNVILmOeqXkOhjs] BESWowao InG 2ty Ir
XjgJeD yEW PZHIFTOZE aem UW
F2dMUIRIBRCHOIS RO WiKuxkMpkpw. facebaok
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Christy Cauble Davis is a fifth-generation Kansan who has
been working to strengthen Kansas communities for more
than two decades. She spent her childhood on a dairy
farm, where she experienced first-hand the farm crisis of
thie 19805, Davis's influences include her grandmothers —
one a social reformer, art collector, and Kansan of the
Year who baked whole-wheat bread every morning, the
other a trailblazing businesswoman who overcame gender
barriers to sell Kansas farmland in skirts and heels. From
her grandfathers, she learned two mottos: “first, do no
harm” from the steady-handed surgeon and "measure
twice, cut once” from the cowboy-booted oil-rigger.

Davis found her passion for the state’s cultural landscapes while studying history and historic preservation at
Kansas State University. While in graduate school at Wichita State, Davis laid the foundation for the City of
Newton's historic preservation program by surveying 1,700 historic properties and documenting the history of
the railroad town. From 1999 to 2006, Davis worked for the state historic preservation office, where she
established funding programs that have generated billions of dollars in economic impact for Kansas communities.
Davis successfully led a grassroots campaign to restore these critical programs after they were cut during the
Brownback Administration.

Through the years, Davis has worked in every county in Kansas. She has served as Legislative Chair for the Kansas
Downtown Development Association, Chair of the Topeka Landmarks Commission, on the Board of Directors for
the Topeka Turnaround Team and Chase County Chamber of Commerce = and on the national boards of
Preservation Action and National Conference of State Historic Preservation Officers. From 2013 to 2019, Davis was
Executive Director of Symphony in the Flint Hills, an organization whaose mission is to “heighten appreciation and
knowledge of the Flint Hills tallgrass prairie.” In January 2019, after serving on Governor Laura Kelly's transition
team, Davis resigned her position at Symphony in the Flint Hills to run for Congress. In 2022, President Biden
appointed her to serve as Kansas State Director for USDA Rural Development,

Christy, her husband Luke Davis, and their 12-year-old son Jack live in Chase County, where they continue to
revitalize rural communities in their home state. In 2016, they adapted a historic building in Cottonwood Falls to
meet a community need for a laundromat. In 2019, they spurred downtown revitalization in Council Grove by
rehabilitating a historic bank building to create much-needed housing and space for a new bookstore. When she
is not working, Davis likes to hike, swim, read, and attend cultural events with her family. Her favorite reading
subjects are political biographies and art history.
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United States Department of the Interior Hational Register Listed
Mational Park Service tlay 2, 2012 (rev, 120201 6)

National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form

This form is 5o LS8 in RoMinating o requesting determinations lor indiidual properies and distrcls. Bed iRSIFUCHONS in Matana! Regisior Bullohn, Fow
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ingiructicns. Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative lisms on continuation sheets il nesded (NPS Form 10-500a).

1. Name of Property
historic name _Emporia Downlown Histoeric District
ather names/site number  111-472

2. Location

Generally bounded by 10° Ave. on the North, 37 Ave. on the South, .
street & number Mechanic St. of the East, and Merchant St, on the West E:| not for publication
cityor town Emporia [_l wicnity
slate Kansas B code KS  county Lyon coda 111 zipcode 66801

3. State/Federal Agency Certification
As the designated authonty under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

| hereby cenify that this x _ nomination ___ request for delermination of eligibdity meets the documentation standards
tor registering propenies in the Mational Register of Historic Places and maets the procedural and professional

requirements set forth in 36 CFR Pan 60.
In my opinion, the property X meels does not meel the Mational Register Criteria. | recommend that this propary |
be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance:

___ national ___ statewide X_local
| SEE FILE |
| Sigrature of cartying afficial Duata

Tite Siate of Federad agoncybireay or Tribal Govemmand

| Iy opineon, Bhe propeny __ meals ___ doss. not g (il MaBana Redisler criena

| Sigratee of commanting official Cuah

Tie Slate o memﬂf?ﬂm Govpmmant

'4_National Park Service Certification
| I, hesredy, conify tha this propedy &

___ entered in the Kational Regsier ___ dalerminsed eligibde far e Mabons] Fegater
___ daberminad real elgitle for tha Mational Rogisier ___ remgpd frgam the Maticnal Aogesies
___ oithaesr | goipdaan:)

Sigristhure of the Kodgped Ciate of Action



Emporia Downtown Historic District Lyen County, Kansas

MHarna of Propesty County sl State
7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials

[Enbar cAIEQOEs iroim insinacions| (Enber calBgories inom nglruckons)

ITALIANATE; RICHARDSONIAN ROMANESQUE foundation: CONCRETE; STONE

LATE 19"VEARLY 20" CENTURY CLASSICAL walls: STONE; BRICK; TERRA COTTA; GLASS
REVIVAL; GOTHIC REVIVAL; BEAUX ARTS; STUCCO; METAL; SYNTHETICS
COMMERCIAL; NEOCLASSICAL; MISSION/ rool:  ASPHALT; TILE; RUBBER

SPANISH ECLECTIC; TUDOR REVIVAL; ART other:

DEGO; ART MODERNE; MODERN; RANCH;
_BRUTALISM; POSTMODERN; OTHER

Marrative Description

iDescribe the historic and current physscal appearance of the property. Explain centributing and noncontributing resources
if necessary. Begin with a summary paragraph that brielly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as
ite location, satting, size, and significant features. )

Summary

Emparia (population 24,916}, the county seat of Lyon County, is located in eas! central Kansas, approximately ninety miles
northeast of Wichita and approximalely one hundred miles southwest of Kansas City. The town was sited al the junction
of the Neosho and Cottonwood Rivers in the Flint Hills region of Kansas, a location that afforded ample timber and
limestone. The Emporia Downtown Historic District encompasses the heart of Emporia’s central business districl.
Commercial Street (Highway 539), the main nonhvsouth thoroughlare, terminates in the campus of Emporia State Liniversity
to the narth. The main east'wes! thoroughtare is 6" Avenue, or Highway 50. In recent decades, these two highways have
been eclipsed by two major U. §. Highways, Interstates 35 and 335, which connect Emporia to Kansas City and Wichita.

The downtown historc district includes approximately eightean city blocks, The district is genarally bounded on the south
by 3" Avenue, also the east'west-running Alchison, Topeka, Santa Fe Rail Line (now Burlington Northern Santa Fe). Itis
bounded on the north by 10" Avenue. The western boundary, which generally follows Mercham Street, the north/south
street west of Commercial Street, extends west along 6th Avenue 1o include two school buildings, Emporia High Schocl
and Lowther Junior High, The eastem boundary, which generally follows along Mechanic Street, extends east along "
Avenue to include the Chvic Auditorium and historic auto garage on the east.

In acdition 1o the traditional commercial blocks, the disirict includes a number of stand-alone buildings, including post
office buildings, churchas, banks, and counfty government SIruclures,

MNarrative Description

i
The architecture of downtown Emporia is reflective of various periods of development. Emporia was founded in 1857, As
evidenced by historic photographs, downtown was already showing signs of permanency in the late 1860s, by which ime
two- and three-story masonry Halianate buildings had already been bulll. As evidenced in historic Sanborn Fire Insurance
Maps, downtown expanded outward from its historic center at 8" and Commercial. the location of the town's oniginal
building.
Alhough some of the downtown bulldings still represent their original appearance 10 & degree, most were modified over
time. 1 was not uncomman for commercial buikdings to have been built and updated many times through the years,

particularly during boom years, such as in the 1910s and 1920s. For purposes of this nomination, a building's consfruction
date reflects the original construction date as evidenced by primary doecumentation, including Sanborn maps and
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Emporia Downtown Historic District Lyon County, Kansas

Mame of Propeny County and State

governmental buildings, such as courthouses. However, il characteristic heavy massing and wide masonry (usualty
stona) arches, were often applied 1o commercial buildings.

Late 19" Century/Early 20" Century Classical Revival (B)

Six (6) of the buildings in the district are classified as “Lale 15" Century/Early 20" Century Classical Revival” Unlike the
high-style, often free-standing, Neoclassical buildings that posi-dale them, these bulldings generally lack prominegnt
columns. Classical details include dentilled comices, entablatures, and keysiones above windows. These buildings are
contemporaries of Richardsonian Romanesque buildings.

Gothic Revival'Colleglale Gothic (2)

Gothic Bevival and Collegiate Gathie architecture, generally reserved for free-standing educational and religious buildings
on the oulskins of commercial cores, is identified by pointed arches and crenallaled towers. Two (2) of the bulidings are
Gothic Revival or Collegiate Gothic. These include the Episcepal Church (Property #66) and Presbyterian Church

(Property 867)

Baaux Arts (2]

Beaux Arts, which lakes its cues from classical architecture as well as French and ltakian Renaissance design, prolilerated
batween 1890 and 1920, Architecis generally applied the style 1o free-standing public buildings, such as city halls and
county courthouses, and to financial institutions, including early twentieth-century banks. Most examples are symmelrnical
in massing with flat, low-pitched or mansard roofs. Commercial examples often use terra cotta. There are two (2) Beaux
Arts bulidings in the district.

Commercial Style (62)

The predominan! commercial architectural stybe in the early twentieth century (1910s 1o 1930s) was the Commercial Styla.
This style is characterized by simple designs with square window openings. as opposed 1o tall, narrow ones. They have
tew architectural details, They generally have no comices — and instead have parapels of stepped parapets, sometimes
punciuated by corbelling. Most are red brick. Reflecting the county’s second major period of growth, this is the most
prolific of the commercial archstectural styes. Sbdy-two (62) of the properties in the historic district are categorized as
Commercial Style.

MNeoclassical (5)

Five {5) buildings in the district are classified as Neoclassical. As s name implies, Neoclassical architecture draws on the
influences of Classical architecture from ancient Greece and Rome. Character-delining features include columns,
pediments, entablatures, dressed stone, dentiling and shallow hipped or fiat roofs. The style was often empioyed in the
1910s and 1820s, after tha City Beautiful Movement popularized free-standing buildings for public and institutional uses.

Mission/Spanish Eclecic (7)

Like Tudor Revival, Spanish Eclectic architecture takes its cues from old-world architecture. There are four (4) examples in
the district. The style, popular nationwide from 19151940, was adopted for both residential and commaercial architecture.
Character-defining features include low-pitched roofs with clay tiles or pan (metal made 1o ook like clay tile) tiles, arched
openings, muli-pane windows, and stucco or blond brick exteriors with polychromatic terra colta. In addition 1o these
classified as Spanish Eclectic, three (3} buildings in the district are idantified as Mission. These lend to be more subdued,
without the use of larra cotta. Sometimas the only thing that distinguishes a Mission Style building from a Commercial
Shyle one ks a bell-shaped parapet.

Tugor Revival (1)

One (1) building. the apartment building at 822 N. Merchan! (Property #168) is classified as Tudor Revival. Common in
16208 residential architecture, Tudor Revival is distinguished by steeply pitched gabled rools, half timbering and
asymmatry. It takes cues from traditional English architecture.

Ant Deco (3)

Thrae (3) buildings in the district are classified as Art Deco. Characterized by fis verticality and rigid geometnc patiems,
Art Deco was popular in the late 1920s and early 1930s. In large ciies, it 1ook the form of skyscrapers, like the Chrysler
Building. On commercial buildings in smaller towns like Emporia, architects executed An Deco design through applied
alements, The best example in Empaoria is the Hardcastie and Kenyon Building (Property #88), which was remodelad in
1832

(3]



Em Downtown Hisloric District Lyon County, Kansas
Mame ol Fropay County and Slato
(23 511 [N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Commercial Style 1870 | Doc | C
L 24 519 |N_ | COMMERCIAL | ST | Halianate 1880 [Est | C
25 521 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Modern/Modem Mymi 1880 | Est | NC
26 525 |N_ | COMMERCIAL ST | Other 1985 | Doc | NC
27 527 |N__| COMMERCIAL | ST | Neoclassical 1923 | Doc | C
28| 603|N | COMMERCIAL | ST |lLate 19°/20th C Class Rev | 1915 [Est [C
29 605 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Richardsonlan Romanesq | 1880 |Est | C
30 609 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST |Late C Class Rev | 1880 |Est |C
31 611 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Commarcial Style 1880 | Est | NC
32 615 | N | COMMERCIAL ST | Commercial Style 1885 |Est |G
33| 617-23|N_| COMMERCIAL | ST | Late 19"/20th C Class Flev | 1910 [Est |C |
34 625|N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Beaux Aris 1880 | Est | NC
35 627 |N__| COMMERCIAL | ST | Commercial Style 1915 |Est |C
36 701 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Ar Deco 1910 [Est [ C
ar 703 (N | COMMERCIAL | ST [ Other 1915 |Est | NC
38 705 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Commercial Style 1915 [Est |C
39 709 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST Eclectic 1925 |Est |C
40 713 |N_|COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1915 |Est | NC |
i 715|N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Commarcial Style 1915 |Est |C
42 717 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Commercial Style 1915 |Est | NC | 2014
43 | 719 [N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1925 [Est | NC
44| 723-25|N_|COMMERCIAL | ST | Commaercial Style 1925 |Est | C
45 727 [N_| COMMERCIAL | ST | StreamilArt Modeme 1952 [Doc |C
46 801 |M | COMMERCIAL | ST | Mission 1915 | Est | NC |
47 803 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1980 |Est | NC
48 807 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST [ Spanish Eclectic 1929 |Doc |NR
49 815 |N_| COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 2010 | Doc | NC
50 821 |N_| COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1930 | Est | NC
51 823 |N_ | COMMERCIAL | ST |Commercial Style 1925 |Est [C |
52 825 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Commercial Style 1915 [Est |C
53 827 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1915 | Est | NC
54 831 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1900 | Est | NC
55 901 |N | COMMERCIAL |ST |Cr 1915 |Est |C
56 907 [N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Commarcial Style 1829 | Est | NC
57 000 [N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Streamii'An Moderne 1858 |Doc |G |
58 911 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Modermn/Modarmn Mvmt 1950 |Est | C
59 915 |N_| COMMERCIAL | ST | Moderm/Modern Mvmit 1958 | Doc |C
60 923 |N_|COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1970 [ Doc | NC
. 81 928 [N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Crafisman/Bungalow 1925 [Est | C
| 62 924 [N | COMMERCIAL | ST | National Folk 1895 | Est | NG
83 920 [N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Modern/Modern Mvmt 1950 |Est | C
64 9i2{N_| COMMERCIAL | ST | Streamii'Art Modeme 1950 |Est |C
65 906 |[N | COMMERCIAL | ST [ Other 1870 | Est | NC
66 828 |N_ | COMMERCIAL | ST | Collegiate Gothic 1925 [Est |C |
67 B02 /N | COMMERCIAL ST | Gothic Revival 1865 |Est |G |
68 726 |N_| COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 2009 | Doc | NC
69 724 |N | COMMERCIAL ST | Spanish Eclactic 1925 (Est | C
70 714 |N | COMMERCIAL ST | Commercial Style 1923 |Doc | C
71 710N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1915 [Est | NC
72 708 |N | COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1915 [Est | NC
73 706 |N_ | COMMERCIAL | ST | Other 1540 |Est | NC
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124 105|W_[FIFTH AVE | Htalianate 1880 |Doc | C
125 115 | W | FIFTH AVE | Modem/Medern Mvmt 1960 |Doc |C
126 215 |W | SIXTH AVE | Neoclassical 1825 |Doc | C
127 501 |N | MERCHANT ST __| Neoclassical 1803 |Doc | C
128 20 |E | FIFTH AVE | Streamil’Art Moderme 1895 |Est |G
129 24 |E | FIFTH ST | Commerclal Style 1930 |Est | C
130 522 |N | MECHANIC ST | Streamii’Art Modeme 1940 |Doc | C
13 1156 |E | FIFTH AVE | Commercial Style 1840 |Est |[C |
132 517 | N__| MERCHANT ST | Late 19"/20th C Class Rev | 1900 [Doc |C
133 108 |W | SIXTH AVE | Commercial Style 1930 [Est |C
134 111 |W | SIXTH AVE | Streamil/Art Modeme 1880 [Est | C
135 115|W | SIXTH AVE | Commercial Style 1915 [Est | C
136 127 |W_| SIXTH AVE | Other 1930 |Est | NC
137 520 [N | CONSTITUTION |ST | Commercial Style 1915 |Est |G
138 2168 |W | SIXTH AVE | Necclassical 1914 [Doc | C

Demao'd
130 16 (W | SixTH AVE | ModgaarModonm Mymt 1866 | Est | NG | 2012
140 110 |W | SIXTH AVE | Commercial Style 1923 |Doc | C
141 201 |[E_ | SIXTH AVE | Other - Industrial 1928 |Doc | C
142 512 |N | MARKET ST | Moderm/Modem Myt 1965 [Est |C
143 23 |E | SIXTH AVE | Commarcial Style 16880 [Est |C |
144 18 |E | SIXTH AVE | Commercial Styla 1925 |[Est |C
145 15|E | SIXTH AVE | Spanish Eclectic 1925 |Est [ NC
146 13|E | SIXTH AVE | Commercial Style 1930 |Est | C
147  7-11|E [ SIXTH AVE | Italianate 1880 |Est |[C |
148 628N _|MERCHANT  [ST |OtherClassical Revival | 1815 |Est |NC| 12/2/2016
149 822 [N | MERCHANT ST | Commercial Style 1930 |Est | NC
150 | 614-616 [N | MERCHANT ST | Commercial Style 1915 |Est [C
151 610 |N | MERCHANT ST | Commercial Style 1885 |Est |C
162 625 |N | MERCHANT ST | Modem/Modern Mvmt 1959 |Doc |C |
153 115 | W | SEVENTH AVE | Craftsman/Bungalow 1920 |Est [C |
154 628 [N | CONSTITUTION |ST | National Folk 1900 | Est | NC
155 620 |N | CONSTITUTION |ST | Modem/Modem Mvmt 1957 |Doc (C
156 701 N | MERCHANT ST | Modem/Modern Mvmi 1960 |Est | C
157 18| E | SEVENTH AVE | Commercial Style 1950 |Est | C
158 20|E | SEVENTH AVE | Commercial Style 1925 |Est | NC |
159 24 |E | SEVENTH AVE | Commarcial Style 1925 |Est |C
160 702N | MECHANIC ST | Commercial Style 1925 |Est [C
161 616 | N | MECHANIC 5T | Commearcial Style 1935 |Est [C
162 727 |N | MERCHANT | ST | Mission 1925 |Est | C
163 715 |N | MERCHANT ST | Brutalism 1972 | Doc | NC
164 801|N__ | MERCHANT ST | Madem/Modam Mvmt 1965 |Doc | C
165 28 |W | EIGHTH AVE | Maderm/Madam Mymi 1958 |Doc | C
166 10| W | EIGHTH AVE | Commercial Style 1925 |Est | NC
167 11| W | NINTH AVE | Commercial Style 1925 [Est |G
168 822 |N__ | MERCHANT ST | Tudor Revival 1925 |Est | C
168 823 | M | MERCHANT ST | Modem/Modermn Mvmi 1961 |Doc | C
170 811 |N | MERCHANT ST | Commercial Style 1923 |Doc | C
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002. Commercial Bullding Status: Non-Contributing

Address: A5 N COMMERCIAL ST

Date of Construction: 1880 (Estimatad)

Parcel ID: 185-15-0-20-15-006,00-0

Historic Function: Commerce/Trade - Speciafty Store

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Restaurant

Architectural Classification: Oiher

Pholos: 16

Description:  This cne-part commercial block has non-historic wood siding concealing both the east and south
elovations. Single-light, high-set, fixed display windows flank the flush center-bay entrance, which
contains a non-historic multi-light wood door, A secondary entrance and a non-historic round-arch
window penetrate the side (south) elevation. A vacant lot is 10 the south.

History: A one-story building on this parcel was built between 1888 and 1893, as evidenced in the Sanbom
maps. The building originally housed county offices. In 1905, after the construction of the new
courthouse, the building was vacanl. 1t was used for storage in 1911, There was a leed store
hera in 1946, Althowgh much modilied, evidence suggesis that the extant building is the same as
that which was built about 1890,

Integrity: Major modifications, including the covering with woed siding, have affected the bullding's integrity
and rendared it non-contrbuting.

003,  100F Hall Status: Contributing

Address: 319 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1880 (Estimated)

Parcel 1D: 185-15-0-20-15-007.00-0

Historic Function: Social - Clubhouse

Current Function: Commerce/Trade

Architectural Classification: [|talanate

Photos: 16

Description:  This load-bearing stone, two-par commercial block is seven bays wide and six bays deap.
Upper-story lenestration defines the bays. Round arches characlerize each upper-story window
opening in the primary lacade, Three of these openings contain the historic tall, namow, one-over-
one double-hung wood windows; non-historic multi-light vinyl windows occupy the remaining
window openings in the front facade. The street-level entrance 1o the second floor occupies the
center bay, which contains non-historic painted wood Infill. The second-fioor entrance is flanked
on each side by a storefronl. The south storefront has a center-bay recessed entrance flanked by
a display windows. The north storefront has a flush entrance and a three-par display window.
Both storefront transom openings contain non-historic painted wood infill. Additional character-
defining leatures include: the pressed metal comice; the quarry-faced stone on the primary and
secondary (scuth) elevations, which has regular courses on the front fagade and irregular courses
on the side elevations; the full-height engaged stone plers flanking the center bay and at each end
of the Iront fagade; the modest pier capitals at the lop of each storefront; and the round arch
ashlar stone second-story window hoods with decorative keysiones and springers. The
secondary elevation window openings feature segmental arches with sione lintels and contain
non-original one-over-ane windows with phywood infill above.

History: This building was buill by 1884, when it housed a "99-cent Variety Store” on the first flioor and

offices on the second floor. By 1888, there was a lurniture/undertaking business on thi first floor
and IQOF hall on the second floor. In 1893 and 1899, there was a second-hand siore on the
north, grocery on the south, and IOOF hall upstairs, By 1905, the first lloor was occupied by a
whaolesals grocany.

11
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In 1884, there were three small shops on this parcel - a lish shop, barber and lunch counter.
These three small shops remained until the years between 1911 and 1823, when the current

building housed a fruit warehouse.

This building is classified as non-contributing because the storefront and transom have been
infilled, M the infill was removed and a compatible storefront installed, the building's status could
be re-evaluated.

Status: Contributing

Address: 325 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1884 (Documenied); 1925 (Estimaled)

Parcel ID: 195-15-0-20-15-010.00-0

Historic Function: Transportation - Road-Related (Vehicular)

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Speciaity Store

Architectural Classification: Commercial Style

Photos: 16

Description:  This brick two-parn commercial block has non-griginal stucco cladding on each elevation, The
primary lagade is four bays wide. Upper-story fenestration defines the bays, with each cpening
containing paired, one-over-one wood windows. A broad storefront occupies the streal-level bays
and features a central recessad entrance flanked by large, two- and thrée-pan display windows.
The second-floor enfrance is at the south end. The storefront transom contains non-hestanc indill.
An aluminum visor awning spans the full width above the storelront. Original decorative brickwork
at comice kevel is visible through in the form of bands of square blocks and a "+* motil.

History: The Jones Block was identified in the 1884 Sanbom map as "being buill.” By 1888, there was a
clothing store on the north hall of the first floor, a restaurant on the south half, and boarding rooms
on the second floor. The south half of the first floor, with an office, dining room and kitchen, had
developed into the “Emparia Hotel® by 1893. By 1899, however, the south hall of the first fioor
had been converied into a grocery and the second floor was identified as "Tenements.” The
south hall of the first floor was vacand in 1805 and 1911, by which tirme tha north hall housed a
cigar factory. By 1923, the south hall was an auto paint shop, Between 1923 and 1929, the first
fioor was opanad up 1o house a 50-car capacity garage and repair shop, The building's current
extenior appearance interpreds the ca. 1925 aulo garage remadel,

Integrity: This building's exterior reflects a ca. 19205 overall design change. with ca, 1825 features
including stucco fagade, geomatrc parapet features, and square window openings. Therelore, it
has suffickent integrity from the pericd of significance o classily as a contributor,

007. Commercial Building Status: Non-Contributing

Address: 329 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1880 (Estimated); 1970 (Estimated)

Parcel 1D: 195-15-0-20-15-011.00-0

Histarie Function: Commarnce/Trade - Specialty Store

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Specialty Store

Architectural Clagsification: Other

Pholos: 16

Description:  This brick two-pan commaercial block has a single bay defined by a rectangular, horizontal metal

screened opening centerad in the non-histonc matal siding that covers the upper-lagade wall,
The first-story storefront has a recessed, off-center entrance and a three-par display window,
The historic pressed melal comice is intact across the lop of the parapel wall.
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historic recessed enfrance. Historc character-defining features preasent include: the cast slone
parapal copéng; the courses of contrasting dark brick that form belt courses al comice and lintal
level on the upper-facade wall; the three-cver-one light wood windows intact in the upper-story
op@nings; the header brick windowsills; the original cast iron storefront lintel that retains remnants
of histan: palnted signage; and the historc storefront transom opening thal currently contains
non-historic painted plywood. The south side elevation has fifteen bays, defined by
asymmednically arranged upper-story fenestration comprised of single and paired windows
beneath segmental arches. Largs square window openings and a secondary entrance penetrale
the first-story of the south alevation. A vacan Iod is adjacent to the south.

There was a ona-story building on this parcel in 1923, The current two-story building was built
betwaan 1923 and 1929, when the first floor housed a bakery. By 1948, the first fioor had been
divided into two commerncial spaces, a restaurant in the souiheast comer of the south hall and a
print shop in the remander of the first lloor. By the tima this two-story building was built, the
adjacent buildings 1o the south had been demolished for the construction of a small filling station
on the northwest corner of 4th and Commercial. This allowed for windows on the south facade of
this building. The former filling station lots now house a parking lot.

Although the storefront has been partially infilled, the side elevation and upper level retain a high
degree of integrity. Therefore, it has been classified as a contributor to the disinct.

Commercial Bullding Status: Contributing

Address:

407 N COMMERCIAL ST

Date of Construction: 18680 (Estimated)

Parcel ID:

195-15-0-20-14-010.00-0

Historic Function: Commerce/Trade - Specially Store
Current Function: Commerca/Trade - Specialty Store
Architectural Classification: Richardsonian Romanesgue/Romanesque Revival

Photos:

Description:

History:

17

This two-parl commercial block is three bays wide. Upper-story fenestration defines the bays.
Each upper-story window opening leatures a segmental arch formed of three header brick
courses with rough-cut stone keystones and springer blocks. ANl upper-story windows are
currently partially covered with non-historic pressed wood siding.  The mid-twentieth cenfury
aluminum-framed slorefront has two large display windows resting on a brick bulkhead, a full-
width trangom with non-histarc infill material, and a recessad antrance. Opposite the retail
gntrance, the historic second-story entrance is inact. Additional, character-defining features
include: the pressed metal comice; the projecting brick plers under the comice; the corbel and
recessed brick courses embellishing the upper lagade wall; and the quarry-faced stone belt
course below the upper-story windows thal lorms a continuous windowsHl,

There was a two-story buliding on this location by 1884, when the first floor was occupied by a
hardware and stove shop. There was an elevator in the building by 1838. Il confinwed 1o howse a
hardware and stove shop uniil the years betwean 1893 and 1905 when it was comveried 1o a
grocery and meal shop, There was a lin shop on the second floer. There was still a grocery slore
thers in 1911,

Although the upper-story windows have been partially covered, the building has an open slorefront
with large display windows and recessed enirance, original comice, and historic upper-story
windows, and, therefore, retains sulficient integrity 1o be classified as a contrbwior.
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Integrity: This building has been classified as a non-contributor because the upper-story windows have
been enclosed and storefront and transom have been enclosed. The building's contributing
status could be re-avaluated if the storefront was opened a compatible storefront was installed.

Commerctal Building Status: Non-Contributing

Address: 413 N COMMERCIAL ST

Date of Construction: 1930 (Estimated); 2000 (Estimated)

Parcel ID: 185-15-0-20-14-013.00-0

Historie Function: CommerceTrade - Specially Store

Current Function: CommerceTrade - Professional

Architectural Classification: Other

Pholos: 17

Description:  This one-pari commercial block bullding has non-historic EIFS cladding and a non-festonc
comice. Non-historic pilasters define the three fagade bays, Non-historic display windows flank a
nan-historic flush, center-bay enfrance. A cloth awning spans the top of the storelrent.

History: There was a one-siory book and jewelry store, as well as a very small barbar shop, on this lot by
1884, In 1888, 1893, and 18939, the scuthemmos! building housed a barber shop. Thera was an
office in the northermaost building uniil the 1800s. By 1889, there was a grocery in the small
narthemmost building - a cobbler's shop in 1905, a lunch counter in 1911, There was an office
hare in 1911 and a store in 1923, The current configuration dates to the years between 1828 and
1846, The current facade dates to ca, 2000.

Integrity: This bullding is classified as a non-contributor because its exterior appearance reflects a ca. 2000
lagade renovation, Unfortunately, these changes appear to be imeversible.

Commercial Buliding Status: Contributing

Address: 415 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1915 (Estimatad)

Parcel 1D: 185-15-0-20-14-014.00-0

Historic Function: CommerceTrade - Spacialty Stong

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Prolessional

Architectural Classification: Commercial Style

Photos: 17

Description:  This one-pari commercial block has a non-historic aluminum-ramed storefront with a flush center
entrance flanked on each side with two-pan display windows. The transom opening is coverad
with painted plywood. Stone blocks accent the péers that frame each end of the primary lacade.
Otherwise, belt courses of soldier and header brick provide the only other embedlishment 1o the
primary facade.

History: There was a one-story millinery hare in 1684, 1888, 1893. By 1858, the bullding had been
converled to & lunch counter, later a bakery. It remained in 1805 and 1811, The buskding had
been expanded 1o the west by 1923, The expansion likely comesponded with modifications 1o the
facade, which remalin ioday,

Integrity: This buikding is classilied as a contributor because it retains an open storefront.

l-l
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017.  Commercial Building Status: Contributing

Address: 423-425 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1880 (Estimated); 1910 (Estimated)

Parcel ID: 185150201401 7000

Historie Function: Commerce/Trade - Specialty Store

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Professional

Architectural Classification: Late 19" & Early 20" Century Classical Revival

Photos: 17

Description:  This brick two-pan commercial block occupies a double-width lol. The upper-story lenestration
defines four bays, each containing the hisloric paired one-over-one wood windows with fransoms
above. The two orginal first-story storefront openings each reflect mid-1o-late twenlieth century
remodels. The north storefront has a high-set narrow, horizontal window and an aluminunm-
framed entrance door at the south end surrounded by salmon-colored brick infill distinguished by
long, narmow brick units that project slightly in an asymmedrical patiern. The south storefront has
palished granite panels cladding the transom opening and buff brick infill surrounding a high-set
narrow, horizontal window and a flush entrance at the south end. A visor awning spans the fop of
the south storefront, Historic character-defining features present include: the cream-colored
projecting lerra colta comice; the decorative brick work in the form of dentils and rectangular
panels over each window; the five shon, engaged brick piers with stone capitals and bases
between each bay on the upper-lagade wall; the ashiar stone window lintels and keystones and
flared cormer blocks; the beige and brown brick facing on the upper-lacade wall; the vertical brick
recesses flanking each upper-slory window, and the continuous stone windowsills forming a belt
course balow the upper-story windows.

History: There were two two-story buildings here by 1884, a boot and shoe stare with dentist's office on the
south end and a drug store and offices on the norh. By 1888, by which time the south building
had been expanded west 1o malch the west elevation of the building to the norh, the buildings
housed a drug store and dry goods store. There was a drug store on the south and music store
on the north in 1893, The drug store remained in 1893, 1905, 1911at which time the north store
housed a milinery. The drug store was still there in 1946. The ca. 1910 consiruction dale derives
from this building's design, which falls in the evolution between the lHalianate, Richardsonian
Romanesgue and OQueen Anne styles of the late nineteenth century and the Commercial Style that
predomimaled from 18910 to 1830,

Integrity: This building is classified as a contribulor because the upper level retains a high degree of
integrity. Although the lower level has been infilled, the infill itself falls within the district's peniod of
significance.

018. Bank Status: Conlributing

Address: 427 N COMMERCIAL ST

Date of Construction: 1880 (Estimated); 1925 (Estimated); 1960 (Estimated)

Parcel ID: 1851502014001000

Historic Function: Commerce/Trade - Financial Instiution

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Professional

Architectural Classification: Modem/Modem Movement

Photos: 17

Description:  This brick two-par commercial block cccupies a comer lot and has two primary elevations - east

and north. The building reflects a mid-twentieth century Modem Movement remodel whose
character-defining elemeants include: buff brick facing; the stone parapet coping: a horizomal band
of aluminum screen panels spanning both primary elevations covering the wpper-story window
openings; the applied metal band over the first story and spanning both elevations; polished stone
panels cladding on the first-story walls; and the visor awning over the canted corner antrance.
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was remodebed in 1962 alter a fire. Emporia‘s Palace Clothing Store closed in 1963 following
Morion Guetlef's death in 1962, (Empora Gazelle, 8 January 1931; 9 January 1931 3 June 1931
28 October 1938, 4 May 1940 & September 1940; 6 February 1850; 18 February 1960; 25 June
1862 6 July 1963. Northem Lyon County Journal, 26 February 1936.)

Integrity: This bullding is classified as a non-contributor because the storefront is infilled with brick and &
shingled awning. If the infill was removed and a compatible storefront installed, the building's
contributing stafus could be re-evaluated

020. Perry Shoe Store/Lyric Theater Status: Contributing

Address: 805 N COMMERCIAL ST

Date of Construction: 16880 (Estimated), 1854 {Documanted)

Parcel ID: 185-15-0-20-01-006.00-0

Histaric Function: Commerce/Trade - Spacalty Store

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Prolessional

Architectural Classification: Commercial Style

Photos: 18, 19

Description:  This brick two-pari commaercial block is two bays wide, defined by upper-story fenestration that is
comprised of wo paired window openings currently containing non-histaric wo-par fixed sash
windows. The original first-story storefront opening contains non-historic brick infill arcund & non-
histeric namow, horizental high-set window and a non-historic recessed entrance. Histaric
characier-defining leatures present include: the salmon-colored brick wall lacing; the red brick
work providing decorative contrast in the form of corbel courses of brick at cornice bevel that
suggest dentils, the soldier brick belt course below the comice, the header brick reclanguiar
enframement on the upper-lacade wall, and the soldier brick window surrounds.

History: Maorton Guettel, who owned the Palace Clothing Store in the adgacent building to the south,
purchased this building in 1954 and extensively remodeled it, with work including truncating the
Building to two stories and building a new facade, soon thereafter for the Perry Shoe Store.
Before the shoe store moved in, the building housed the Lyric Theater. There was a thres-siory
building here by 1884, with a dry goods store on the first floor, offices on the second, and lodige
room on the third. In 1BEB and 1893, the third floor was a baliroem and the first ficor was a drug
siore, In 1889, there was a restaurant on the first floor: a clothing store in 1905; a barber shop in
1811, The Lyric Theater occupied the bullding by 1946, According to the 1846 Sanborn map, the
building was still threa-stories in haight then.

Integrity: This bullding is classified as a contributor because although the storefront is infilled with brick, the
upper iagade retains its 1954 appearance,

021. Commercial Bullding Status: Contributing

Address: 507 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1880 (Estimated); 1950 (Estimated)

Parcel 1D: 185-15-0-20-01-007.00-0

Historic Function: Commerce/Trade - Specialty Store

Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Specialty Store

Architectural Classification: Commercial Style

Photos: 18. 19

Description:  This brick two-par commercial Block is two bays wide, defined by upper-story fenestration

comprised of two paired window openings. Each opening currently contains a nan-historic ane-
over-one window and plywood infill. The first-story siorefront features an aluminum-framed three-
part display window resting on a brick bulkhead and a recessed entrance at the north gnd, A non-
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features present include the dark brown brick facing, the white lerra colle parapet coping and
projecting cornice, and the soldier brick courses surrounding each window and storefront opening.

Alihough the current lagade dates to a 1918-1920 overall design change, this building evolved
over a long period of time, beginning in 1874 when Newman Dry Goods Company bought the
building at 513 Commaercial Street. Mewman Dry Goods Company was founded by Alberd
Augustus Newman in 1868. In May 1870, the company moved to a new two-slory slone building
at 6th and Mechanic. Newman Dry Goods moved 1o 513 Commercial in 1874. In 1873,
Mewman's purchasad the adiacent bullding to the north, expanding the first-floar shewroom to 506
X 120°, In 1901, the business, which was known as G. W. Newman & Co. (the name of Augustus
MNewman's brother, who ook over the store), expandaed again into the Brurer buillding to the nonh.
The company completed ancther major renovation in 1910, 1t renovated again in 1918-1820,
foliowing the death of G. W. Newman, when the store expanded ino the builkding to the south and
received a new lront. The renovation expanded the store's floor space to 40,000 square feet. In
1926, Newman merged with the Rorabaugh-Paxion Dry Goods Company. Like many other
companies in the Greal Depression, the Rorabaugh store went into receivership in 1932, Soon
thereafier, the Emporia Gazette announced that the store would re-open under the Newman
name, with Mrs. G. W. Newman as presidenl. But the store continuad 1o face linancial woes. It
recrganized again in 1935-36, after Mrs. Newman became ill and died, placed under the control of
Fort Scott merchandisers W, K. and W. G. Calhoun. The bullding was updated again in 1837.

In 1888, 1803 and 1905, these middlo parcels were labeled “Union Block." The Union Block was
a masshva brick llalianate struciure with Bmestone detaits, The bullding was modemized with a
metal facade in tha 1960s. In 1998, the building was purchased by Antique Mall Co., LLC. Soon
thereafter Den Calhoun announced that Newman's Department store would close after 130 years.
The antique mall closed in 2001. In 2003, Jean Woods purchased the bullding, removed the
metal facade, installed new aluminum storefronts, and remodeled the interior for her bridal store,
Madelynn's. Madehmn's was closed in 2009. (Emporia Gazefie, 13 October 1826; 18 July 1932,
21 April 1932; 20 July 1832; 30 September 1932; 1932 October 20; B November 1932; 21
Movember 18232; 5 November 1932; 28 Novermnber 1932; 26 November 1932; 28 November 1932,
3 December 1932 13 October 1926; 5 December 1932; 19 Fabruary 1920; 6 Seplember 1935, 5
Movember 1935; 14 November 1935; 30 December 1936 16 January 1937, 28 January 1937 24
February 1937; 25 February 1937; 11 March 1837; 26 February 1937, 31 Oclober 1840; 12
October 1968; 13 April 1973; 2 Seplember 1997; 17 Oclober 1998, 24 December 1998 3 June
1998; 20 October 1998; 8 July 1989; 23 July 2001; 22 February 1818; 23 March 1960; 29 March
1960; 14 April 1903; 9 March 1922; 5 May 1839; 8 Novembaer 1936)

Mew windows, which fill the ariginal masonry opanings, were installed atter the metal lagade was
remaoved in 2003. The building retains its overall form, window openings and integrity from its
1820 overall design change and, theredore, ks classified as a contributor.

024. Commercial Building Status: Coniributing

Address:

518 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1880 (Estimated), 1910 (Estimated)

Farcel I1D:

185-15-0-20-01-012.00-0

Historic Function: Commernca/Trade - Specialty Store
Current Function: Commerce/Trade - Prolessional
Architectural Classification: Nalianate

Photos:

Description;

18,18

This brick two-part commercial block is four bays wide. Upper-siory fanastration defines the bays,
where each opening contains a non-historic single fixed-sash window. The storefront opening
contains non-historic brick infill around non-histonic display windows and a center-bay recassed
entrance. Standing seam metal fills the storefront transom opening. Applied metal awnings
surmount each storefront display window. Historic character-defining features prasent include the
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Integrity: This building is classified as a non-contnbulor because its construction post-dates the districl’s

period of significance.
027, Citizens National Bank Status: Contributing

Address: £27 N COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1823 (Documenied)

Parcel 1D: 185-15-0-20-01-001.00-0

Historic Function: Commerce/Trade - Financial Instiution

Current Function: CommercedTrade - Financial Instifution

Architectural Classiication: Neoclassical

Photos: 18, 18

Description:  This brick two-part veriical block occupies a comer 1ot and has two primary elévalions - east and
north. This five-story building has a two-story base supporting a three-story shaft. The building ks
four bays wide and seven bays deep. Upper-siory fenestration, arranged single and in pairs,
defines the bays. Non-historic annodized aluminum window units occupy all window cpenings.
The primary entrance is centered in the lirst story of the east elevation and fealures a stone
surround with a stepped, shouldered architrave. Additional historic character-defining features
present include; the projecting terra cotla comice with modillicns; the two projecting terra cotta
belt courses between the second and third stores, defining the transilion batween the base and
the shalt; the two-slory, engaged round Corinthian columns set within the recessed fagade wall of
the east elevation; the two-story, engaged brick pikasters with terra cotta capilals between each
bay on the nodh elevation; the decorative brick work around the windows in the bullding’s two-
story base; and the sione water 1able spanning each elevation. A clock sign projects from the
northeast comer at the second siony.

History: There has been a bank on this comer since before 1884. The telephone office on the second
flocr from 1884 until at least 1905, The current building was built in 1923 as the Citizens National
Bank

Integrity: Although the windows and storefronts have been replaced, the historic openings remain and the
building retains its overall integrity. Therefore, i is classified as a conributor.

028, Commercial Building Status: Contributing

Address: 603 M COMMERCIAL 5T

Date of Construction: 1815 (Estimated)

Parcel 1D: 182-10=-0-30-42-006.00-0

Historie Function: Commaerce/Trade - Specialty Store

Current Function: CommerceTrade - Specialty Store

Architectural Classification: Late 19" & Early 20" Century Classical Revival

Photos: 20, 21

Description:  This brick two-part commercial block occupsis a double-width corer lot and has two primary

alevations - east and south. The building is three bays wide and eight bays deep, Upper-story
fenestration defines the bays. The window openings are arranged singly, in pairs, and in a band
of three, and contain non-historic one-by-one sliding windows with plywood infill above. Stons
hoods over each window and window group enunciale eéach bay. A non-historic storafront
pccupies the first story of the east elevation and includes: a meltal pant rool awning, uncoursed
rough-cul uncoursed stone cladding on the end piers and bulkheads, and a recessed entrance
porch. Historic character-defining features prasen! include: the 1all parapet wall with stone cap
visible above the comice; the projecting cast-stone or lerra colla comice spanning both primary
glevations: the stone belt course below the upper-story windows that lorms a continuous sill; and
the stone belt course above the first-story windows on the south elevation. A second, non-histonc
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168. Apartment Building Status: Contributing

Address: B22 N MERCHAMT 5T

Date of Construction: 1925 (Estimated)

Parcel ID: 192-10-0-30-28-003.00-0

Historic Function: Comestic - Multiple Dwelling

Current Function: Domestic - Multiple Dwalling

Architectural Classification: Tudor Revival

Photos:

Description:  This walk-up aparimenl building has a gable-front rool aligned perpendicular 1o the sireel. Paired
windows and a center-bay entrance define the five facade bays, The entrance occurs within a
gabled-prajection that rises 1.5 stores. Additional archilectural elements present include: the
wide eaves overhang with decorative knee brackets and exposed ralter tails; historic stucco wall
cladding with faux half-timbering on the upper-story walls; the brick cladding of the first story,
including header brick windowsills; the soldier brick courses spanning the top and bottom of the
first story walls on each elevation; the glass block sidelights that curve to wrap the comers of the
entrance projection; and the historic six-over-one light wood windows.

History: This apartment building was built betwaan 1523 and 1929.

Integrity: This building retains its onginal 1920s appearance, with features including 81 wood windows. 1
is classified as a confribulor.

169.  First United Methodist Church Status: Contributing

Address: 823 N MERCHANT ST

Date of Construction: 1961 (Documented)

Parcel 1D: 192-10-0-30-27-001.00-0

Historic Function: Redigion - Religious Facility

Current Function: Religion - Religious Facility

Architectural Classification: Moderm/Modem Movement

Photos:

Description:  This church building has an iregular plan comprised of a central two-story gabled block with a
one-story gabled wing at the south east comer and a flat-roof hwo-stary wing extending from the
noribwest corner. The main block has a shallow-pitch gabled roof with the ridgeline aligned
northeast-southwest, The main entrance is through four central doors in the north elevation.
Character-delining features include: the salmon-colored brick cladding; the five lull-height piers
that define the bays of the norh elevation; the wide eaves overhang: and the five tall, narrow full-
height leaded glass windows cenfered in the eas! elevation and surrounded by ashlar stone
panels. A free-standing bell tower struclure is adjacent 1o the north of the main block. The
northwest wing fealures engaged concrete piers defining the first-story bays, each of which
contain four-par aluminum fixed windows with salmon-colored brick cladding below. Ashiar stone
clads the second story of this wing.

History: The Methodist Episcopal Church held its first sarvices in Emporia in 1857. The congregation
started construction on is first building in 1860. Delayed by the Civil War, the congregation was
unable to comphete the building in 1864, The Empaoria Methodist Church’'s lirst permanent
building was destroyed by fire in 1901 and replaced by a building dedicated in 1903. The 1903
bullding bumed on September 14, 1957. The current building was completed in 1961 from plans
by architect J. Trevor Lewis {Sachs and Ehrlich, 109; for more on J. Trevor Lewis, see Brandy
Nance, “Retired Architect Trevor Lewis Dies.” Emporia Gazette 24 November 2010.).

Integrity: The bullding retains a high degree of imegrity from its 1961 construction dale. It is classified as a

contributor 1o the district
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Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary)

The district includes four buildings that were constructed as churches. Three of these buildings, the Episcopal Church,
Presbyterian Church, and Methedist Church, continue 1o be used by religious institutions. All derive their primary
significance from thelr architectural importance, The Presbyterian Church is significant as an example of Gothic Revival
architecture, The Episcopal Church is a great example of Collegiate Gethie. The First United Mathodist Church is an
example of Modemn design.

Narrative Statement of Significance

Summary Paragraph (provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and applicable criteria)

The Emporia Downtown Historic District is nominated to the Mational Register of Historic Places for local significance
under Criterion A in the areas of Community Planning and Development and Commerce for s associalion with the growth
and development of Emporia. 11 is also being nominated under Criterion C in the area of Architecture as a collection of
commercial buildings from vaficus periods in the community's development. The downlown retains a high degree of
integrity, with 88% of the buildings being classified as contributors.

Narrative Statement of Significance

S -
Emporia, the county seat of Lyon County, is located in the Flint Hills region of Kansas, at the junction of the Cotionwood
and Neosho Rivers. The area was the traditional home of the Kansa ard Osage Indians. In the 1840s, following Indian
Remaval, the area also came 1o be home fo the Sac and Fox Indians of Mississippi. Charles Withington, the first Euro-
American to live in the area, arrived in 1848 and worked as a gunamith for the Sac and Fox.

Breckenridge County, the precursor to Lyon County, was established in 1855 by the so-called "Bogus Legislature,” which
was dominated by pro-siavery delegates from Misscuri. Permanent white settlers arrived in the Emporia area by 1855,
founding a pro-slavery community at present-day Necsho Rapids.’

By the time Emporia was founded in 1857, the lerilory's political allegiances had shifted, due in par 1o the influence of the
New England Emigrant Ald Company, which established a stronghold in Lawrence. Of the five members of ihe Empona
Town Company, four were Lawrance residents. The fifth, Preston Plumb, made his home in Emporia and thus eamed the

tithe of wown founder.”

George W, Brown, editor of Lawrence's free-stale newspaper Herald of Freedom, sited the town during a 10-day
excursion.” The town company purchased the land for $1800 from the Wyandotte Indians and named it Emporia
ostensibly after a Greek markel cenler known as “a place of greal wealth and importance.™ The original town plat
strelched between present-day 6™-and 18 Avenues South Avenue and 127 Avenue.” The entire incorporated town was
also diferent in that it stretched to 18" Avenue even though thal half section was not platted as part of the original town. It
was laler platted as additions and subdivisions, [Comected 2-17-2014 SIM]

The new town grew quickly. In 1857, John Hammond built the lown's first building (no konger extant), a wood-framed
structure on the northwest comer of 8" and Commercial thai not only housed Hammond's boarding house and a broker's
office, bud also served as the lown's religious, educaticnal and governmental headguariers. Other buildings, including the
Homsby and Fick store and the Emporia House hotel, soon lollowed. ® As soon as he amived, Preston Plumb, who had

' Centennial Celebration Commities, Hisforical Booklel: Centennial, 1857-1857. 100 Years of Progress, Emparia, Kansas,
Centennial Celebration, June 30-July 8, 1857 (Emporia, KS: Emporia Centennial Inc., 1957), 17.

? Federal Writers” Project of the Works Projects Administration, The WPA Guide to 1930s Kansas (Lawrence, KS:
University Press of Kansas, 1984}, 186,

* Centennial, 5.

‘WPA, 186.

* Lyon County Bicentennial Commission, Our Land A Hisfory of Lyon Counfy Kansas (Emporia, Kansas: Emporia State
Press, 1976), 143,

* Frank Blackmar, Kansas: A cyclopedia of State Hisfory. .vol. Il (Chicago: Standard Publishing Company, 1812).
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lights in 1885, and a new sewer system in 1800, These public improvements were maiched with cultural and educational
advances. In 1882, the Presbylerian Church established the city's second institution of higher learning, the College of
Emporia. When the Whilley Opera House opened in 1881, boosters ook to calling Emporia the “Athens of Kansas.™"
Between 1880 and 1886, the city's population more than doubled to 8107. By 1888, thare was a solid row of commercial
buildings between 4th and Tth Avenues. Amaong the major intact ltakanate buildings from the 1880s is the Moore's Block

(Property £100).

Drought, crop failure and railroad overexpansion devastated the national, stale and local economies and propelled a
decade-long recession. In 1898, the First National Bank, which had survived the natiomvide Panic of 1893 only 1o be
embroiled in a scandalous fraud, faded. Both the bank's disgraced presiden! Charles 5. Cross and bank investor and
booster edilor Charles Vernon Eskridge committed suicide. A downtown fire added insult 1o injury. In 1893, the entire 600
Block between Commercial and Mechanic was destroyed. In addition to the 575,000 in damage to the buikdings, the fire
killed twenty-five horses.”™ The economy did not show signs of recovery until 1899 when the area finally had a productive
harvest. By then, enrollment al the Kansas Normal School had recovered to the point that it was not only the largest
institution of higher leaming in the state, but also the nation's largest normal schoaol,

In the first two decades of the twentieth century, with Emporia Gazetfe editor Wiliam Allen White as its tirglass promoter,
Emporia fook on the mantle of the ideal Midwesiemn fown, a place thal valuad faimess, sanitation, moderation, and other
prograssive values. In 1908, Emporia boasted thal it was the largest town (the population then was about B00O) in Kansas
without a saloon.™ The lown's Midwestermn charm was on full display in omate buiddings in the Richardsonian
Romanesque and Late 18"/Early 20" Cantury Classical Revival Styles, the majority of them on the west side of the 400,
500 and 800 Blocks of Commercial.

In addition 10 the downtown commercial blocks, a greal number of imposing free-standing educational and institutional
buildings warthy of the City Beautiful Movement were built in the first decades of the twentieth century. In 1904, the
imposing Neoclassical post office (Property #127) was completed. In 1912, Emporia constructed a new high school, Tha
junior high school, also an imposing Neoclassical structure, was buill in 1825, The more subdued YMCA, which was built
in 1916, became a center for Red Cross activities during Werld War 1.*° The courthouse at 4™ and Commercial,
completed in 1801, included a women's res! room, a place where farmers’ wives and children could gather while they
conducied business in fown, which olten consumed entire Saturdays.

Rast rooms would become less necessary as automobiles made trips 1o lown less taxing. By 1907, there were already
twenty-four cars on the roads of Emporia. Emporia boasted 8.5 miles of paved streets by 1810; and there were 560,000 in
road improvements in 1815 alone.” Ironically, in 1911, just as cars wera beceming ubiquitous, Emporia installed eleciric
sireet cars downlown. Other civic improvements, completad under the direction of Emporia’s new city commission/city
manager form of government, including new water pipelines, were more practical. “ In 1913, alter $60,000 in fire losses
that included the destruction of the beloved Whitley Opera House, the city finally established a fire department ™
Unfortunately, firefighting was complicated by the growing communily's water shorlages. The waler problem atiracted
national attention in 1820 when the public utilities commissioner demanded that Emporians use no more than lour inches
of water in thair baths.

All of the Progressive-Era improvements gave Empora amphe bragging rights as it marketed iRself 1o tourists in he new
awlo age. Inthe eary 1920s, the New Santa Fe Trail (designated U. 5. Highway 50 in 1926). which generally followed the
historic route of the Santa Fe Trail, stretched from coast to coas! and connected Emporia 1o Kansas City and Mewlon.
Recognizing the highway's economic potential, Emporia boosters tock action. Under the leadership of Emporian 0. M.
Wilhite, president of the New Santa Fe Trail, the Emporia Chamber of Commerce distributed ihousands of pamphiets
aimed at luring auto lourists and potential residents. The promational materials touted the city's “up-to-date” schools, well-
maintained churches, a “well-lighted white way in the business distnct,” institutions from the YMCA to the Counlry Club,
twenty hotels and a free aule tourist camp. The 1921 pamphlet included photos of the new Emporia High School. the

" Coulter and Ramaley, 72; French, Hisfory of Emporia
7 Lyon County Bicentennial Gommission, Our Land: A History of Lyon County Kansas (Emporia, Kansas: Emporia State

French.
¥ Emporia Gazette, The Blue Book of Lyon County (Emparia, KS: Emporia Gazetie, 1906).
“ Franch, 110.
“ |bid, 87, 97.
: Iid, 94,
Isid, 102.
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In 1852, the Chamber of Commerce established the Industrial Park on the northwest side of town. Amaong the businesses
that located there were Dolly Madison, lowa Beef Packing Plant, and Detrot Diesel. New indusiries brought new
residents. Between 1940 and 1970, the population nearly doubled 1o 25,287, Despile the industrial and commercial
development in the outskirs, new construction continued in downtown, In 1951, Lyon County completed construction of a
new courthouse (Property #96) 1o replace the 1901 building. Emporia Masonic Lodge #12 buill its Modemn bullding
{Property #120) in 1952, Both Southwestern Ball (Property m165) and the L. 5. Post Office (Property #152) buill neny
buildings in 1959 (Proparty #165).

S1ill other new buildings were construcied between the historic core of the central business district and the Kansas State
Teachers College. The norihward march of downiown was likely due not only to the increased overall population growth,
but also to the growth of the college owing to the success of the G Bill, which provided suppert for World War Il velerans
to attend college. This growing part of downlown was closest lo new student housing, such as the 96-uni ESU
Apartments, bulll as married student housing in 1963.

The explosion of the auto culture in the post-war years also shaped downlown. In the late 1940s, 1950s and 1960s, the
city's population grew and the city bmits expanded. Bul the majority of the city's shops and services were still located in
the central business district. An increasing number of downiown shoppers traveled from greater distances by car and
required parking. Downtown businesses, competing with an ever-increasing number of slores with free parking, explored
ways to provide the off-sireet parking their customers had come o expect. On December 5, 1962, the Emporia City
Council hedd a public hearing on its resolution to acquire and “improve” downtown properties for the creation of five new
ofi-sireel parking zones, The city paid 70% ol the cost with temporary notes. Property cwners within the downlown
improvement district were assessed for the remaining 30%. Much of the land assigned to downtown parking was
residential. Forinstance, the east side of the 700 Block of Merchant had been occupied by six homes and an auto repair
shop. The commercial bulldings on the north side of Sevenih west of Mechanic were spared. But lo their north, five
homes were demolished. Elsewhere, indusinial buildings were destroyed. For instance, a8 mismatched collection al
buildings on the west side of the 800 Block of Mechanic had served as warehouses for Haynes Hardware and the Kansas
Lumber Company,™

I the past thirty years, Emporia has had itle 1o no population growth. As new businesses opened on the outskins of
town, many downiown businesses closed, In an effort 1o recruil new businesses and revitalize downtown, the Gty of

Emporia established a Main Street program in 1981, Among the recent develapments in Emporia’s downtown is the

rehabilitation of the Granada Theater. Emporia Main Street is working to continue the downlown revitalization.

Community Planning and Development

Downtown Emporia is locally significant in the area of Community Planning and Development as a district thal interprets
the community's development over a period of nearly 150 years, Commercial Street, originally platied as the main
north/south thoroughfare - a linear design that takes its cues from New England planning methods, remains a nearfy
uninterrupted row of commaercial bulldings terminating in a courthousa thal faces the streel. The intersection of Sixth and
Commercial was designed as the town's principal junction, the comer where the lown's competing financial institutions
used elaborate architecture 1o vie for attention. The designation as the principal intersection continued as Highway 50
followed the path of Sixth Street. Churches, which traditionally could not atford prime commercial real estate - or whose
benelactors donaled less-desirable lots - were located on the north end of downtown, a distance from the core of the
central business district and Santa Fe railway. Four historic churches, three of them still used for their original purpose,
remain on the norh side of downtown. During the early twentieth century, downtown expanded east and wesl. Among the
first non-residential buildings constructed on the west side, along Merchant and Constitution, were free-standing
instifulional, educational and governmental buildings such as Emporia High School, Junior High, U. 5. Post Oifice, YMCA
and Emporia Welfare Association. Thesa buildings ware quickly joined by an array of auto-related structures along
Highway 50, Merchant and Mechanic Streets, as well as in the theretofore residential area along Commercial Street to the
narth. The nortward mareh of businesses conlinued in the post-war years as the Kansas State Teachers College took on
more prominence and attracted non-tradiional students who lived independently.

Commerce

Downtown Emporia is locally significant in the area of Commerce. The extant buildings interpret a broad array of histonic
business-related uses, from banks, telegraph offices and depariment siores 1o warghouses, garages and drive-thrus.
Downlown buildings inlerpret the community's evolution from railroad shipping point and wholesale center to regional
trading cenler o sell-proclaimed aulo lourist destination. In addition to these early developments, downlown reflects the

* Emporia Gazette, 1962 December 13; 1946 Sanbom Map.
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Zone Easting Morthing Zone  Easling Morthing

11 14 T4B225 4254911 25 14 746403 4254358

Zone Easting Morthing Zone  Easling Maorthing

12 14 746162 4254928 26 14 746403 4254261

Zong Easting Morthing Zone  Easting Northing

13 14 T4E2B3 4255062 27 14 T46353 4254261

Zone Easting Marthing Zone  Easling Naorthing
14 14 746295 4254678 28 14 746353 4254208 =

Zone Easting Morthing Zone  Easling Maorthing

29 14 746299 4254208

Zone  Easling Northing

a0 14 7462899 4254106

Zone  Easling MWarlhing

Verbal Boundary Description (describe the boundaries of the property)

The downtown historic district includes approximately eighleen city blocks, The district is generally bounded on the south
by 3 Avenue, also the east/west-running Aichizon, Topeka, Sanla Fe Rail Line (now Burlington Northern Santa Fe). Nis
bounded on the north by 10" Avenue. The western boundary, which generally Tollows Merchant Street, the north/south
siree! west of Commercial Street, extands wast along 6th Avenue to include two school buildings, Emporia High School
and Lowther Junior High. The eastern boundary, which generally follows along Mechanic Street, extends east along 6th
Avenus to include the Chie Audilorum and historic aulo garage on tha aast,

More specifically, the boundary begins at the southwest comer of 301 5. Merchant {F’mhpertr #1, Poin #1}, continues north
along the alley between Commercial and Merchant to the scutheast comer of 17 W. 47 (Property #110, Point #2), thence
west to the weslern boundary of 331 N. Merchant {Point £3), thence norh to the southeast comer of 115 W, Sth Avenue
(Property #125, Point #4), west along Ihe southem boundary of 115 W. Sth Avenue (Point #5) to the propary’s western
boundary, north along the westemn boundary of 115 W. 5th Avenue to Sth Avenue (Point #6). From there, the boundary
extends west akong 5th Avenue to Congress Street (Point #7), thence north along Congress 1o Tth Avenue (Point #8).
thence east along 7th Avenue Io the alley between Merchant and Constitution (Point #9), thence north 1o Sth Avenua
(Point #10), thence east 1o the alley between Merchan! and Commercial Streets (Point #11), thence norih 1o 10th Avenueg
{Point #12), thence east 1o the alley between Commercial and Mechanic (Point #13), thence south to the northern
boundary of Properties #157, 158, and 153 (Point #14), thence eas! to the alley between Mechanic and Market Sireets
{Point #15), thence south 1o the southeast comer of 616 N. Mechanic (Property #1861, Point #16). west to Mechanic (Point
#17), south to Sixth (Point #18), east to alley between Market and Union (Paint #13), thence south along the alley 1o the
southeast comer of 512 M. Market (Property #142, (Point #20), thence west to Market Street (Point #21), thence south 1o
6" Avenue (Point #22), thence west 1o the eastern boundary of 115 E. 5" (Property #131, Point #23), thence south to the
southarn boundary of 115 E. 5th (Property #131, Point #24), thence west io the alley between Market and Mechanic (Point
#25), thence south 1o 4th Avenue (Point #26), thence west to Mechanic {Point #27), thence south 1o the southem boundary
of 318 5. Mechanic (Property 116, Poini #28), thence west 1o ihe alley batwean Mechanic and Commercial (Paint #29).
thence south 1o 3rd Avenue (Point #30), thence wast 1o the point of beginning (Point #1).

Boundary Justification (explain why the boundaries warg selecled)

These boundaries were selected because the area is al the heart of Emporia’s downtown commercial business district. To
the south, the Alchison, Topeka and Santa Fe rail line provides a southem boundary, south of which falls an incongruous
smattering of commercial and indusirial buildings that do not convey an intact commercial districl. Waest of the west
boundary on the southwesl, along Constitution Streel, is a core residential nesghborhood with single-family dwellings.
North, south and west of the historic middie school and high school is a residential neighborhood interrupted by non-
historic construction related to Highway 50. Wesl of the properties along Merchant Streel, between 7th and 9th Avenues,
are a series of parking lols thal provide a clear dividing line between the commercial business district and the residential
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12 el 28 East side of 800 Block of Morth Commercial, north hall, looking southaast.
13of 28 East side of 200 Block of Morth Commercial, south hall, looking northeast.
14 of 28 East side of 900 Block of North Commercial, north hall, looking southeast.
15 of 2B West side of 300 Block of North Commercial, looking southwes! at Poehler Building.
16 of 2B Wesl side of 300 Block of Norh Commencial, lpoking nodivwest.

17 of 28 Wesl side of 400 Block of North Commercial, looking northwest.

18 of 2B West side of 500 Block of North Commercial, south half, looking northwest.
19 of 2B West side of 500 Block of Morth Commercial, north half, Isoking southwast.
200l 28 Waest side of 600 Block of North Commaercial, south hall, looking northwast,
21 of 28 Wes! side of 800 Block of North Commancial, north hall, looking southwest,
22 of 2B West side of 700 Block of MNorth Commarcial, south half, looking northwest.
23 of 2B West side of 700 Block of Morth Commaercial, north hall, looking southwest.
24 of 28 West side of 800 Block of North Commaercial, south half, looking northwest.
25 of 2B Wes! side of 800 Block of Nonth Commercial, north hall, looking southwest.
26 of 28 Wesl side of 300 Block of Norih Commercial, south hall, looking frofhiweast.
27 of 2B West side of 200 Block of Norih Commercial, north half, looking southwast.
28 of 28 South side of 100 Block of West Fourth Avenue, locking southwest.

Property Crwner:
lcomplete this ilem at the request of the SHPO or FPC)
Mg See SHPO file for property owner list.
street & number telephore
city or town stale zip code

Papsrwork Reduction Act Statement: This infoemation is Deing collected far applications to the MNational Regisles of Historc Places 10 nominate
propariies for listing or determing slgibdity for listing, b lis! propenies, and 1o amend exisling listings. Response 1o this request is requined 1o obiain a
beenadil in accordancs with the Nalional Hislonc Presarvation dcl, as amended (16 UL5.C 450 o sag.)

Estimated Burdan Statemant Public repodng burden lor Bhis larm i estimated 1o average 18 hours por respdnds includsryg Bme 1of revsesing
instructions, galhering and maintaining dala, and completing and reviewing the form, Direct comments regarding this bunden estimabe o any aspecl of
this foem fo the Cffice of Planning and Pedormance Management. U S, Dept. of the Interar, 1840 C. Sireel, MW, Washirgion, DC,



